


BEING ALL OF LOT 98, ENCHANTED OAKS, SECTION II, PHASE
III ACCORDING TO PLAT RECORDED IN BOOK OF MAPS L987,
PAGE ZZL,WAI<E COUNTY REGISTRY.

Parcel ID No.: 0780992304

5. The record title holder of 5200 Blue Stem Court is Parson Investment Group,
Inc., a North Carolina corporation.

6. Based on the investigation described in this declaration, there is probable
cause to believe that the Subject Property constitutes or is derived from
proceeds traceable to specified unlawful activity, specifrcally Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1031 (major fraud against the United States), 1347

Qnealth care fraud) and/or 1349 (conspiracy to commit health care fraud), or
were involved in transactions or attempted transactions in violation of Title
18, United States Code, Section 1957 (collectively, the "subject Offenses"), and
are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 981(aX1)(A) and (C).

7. This investigation concerns Andor Labs, LLC ("Andor"), a Georgia limited
liability company with a principal office address at 1000 Bear Cat Way, Suite
107, Morrisville, North Carolina 27560, in the Eastern District of North
Carolina. As will be shown below, there is probable cause to believe that
Andor, in concert with others, fraudulently billed the Health Resources &
Services Administration ('HRSA") Uninsured Program (the "IJninsured
Program") for benefi.ciaries that were not uninsured.

Jurisdiction

8. This Court has in rem jurisdiction over the Subject Property pursuant to 28
U.S.C. S 1355(b) because the Subject Property is located in the Eastern District
of North Carolina and because one or more acts or omissions grving rise to the
forfeiture occurred in the Eastern District of North Carolina. As described in
the paragraphs below, the Subject Offenses at issue have occurred, among
other places, in the Eastern District of North Carolina.

Regulatory Background

9. In response to the public health emergency caused by the global COVID-19
pandemic, Congress enacted various legislation to ensure that persons in the
United States could receive COVID-19 testing at no cost to themselves.

10. Congress passed the Families First Coronavirus Response Act ("FFCRA") on
March 18,2020, which appropriated $1 billion to the Public Health and Social
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Services Emergency Fund to reimburse health care providers for COVID-19
testing claims of "uninsured individuals" who were not enrolled in a federal
health care program or a "group health plan or other health insurance coverage
offered by a health insurance issuer .. . or a health plan offered under chapter
89 of title 5, United States Code." Pub. L. No. 116-127,134 Stat. 182 (2020).

1 1. On March 27, 2020, Congress passed the Coronavirus Aid, Re1ief and Economic
Security Act ("CARES Act"), which appropriated $100 bilIion to the Public
Health and Social Services Emergency Fund for health care providers "for
health care related expenses or lost revenues that are attributable to
coronavirus." Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 281 (2020). HHS created the
Provider Relief Fund ("PRF") using these funds.

l2.Additional amounts were appropriated through the Paycheck Protection
Program and Health Care Enhancement Act ('PPPHCEA"), Pub. L. No. 116-
139, 134 Stat. 620 (2020), and the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 ("ARPA"),
Pub. L. No. 117-2, 135 Stat. 40.

13.The Secretary of HHS allocated a portion of funding from the CARES Act,
PPPHCEA, and ARPA to support health care-related expenses attributable to
COVID-19 testing for the uninsured and treatment of uninsured individuals
with COVID-19, as well as to reimburse providers for administering Food and
Drug Administration ("FDA")-authorized or -licensed COVID-19 vaccines to
uninsured individuals pursuant to the Uninsured Program.

14.HRSA, an agency within HHS, established and administered the Uninsured
Program. In order to protect the integrity of the program, HRSA mandated
that any providers seeking reimbursement from the Uninsured Program agree
to specific terms and conditions, and make attestations regarding their
compliance with specific program requirements.

15.The submission of claims to the Uninsured Program involved several steps.
First, through an online portal known as the "UIP Portal," health care
providers had to enroll in the lJninsured Program. Through the UIP Portal,
health care providers were also required to submit a "patient roster." Patient
rosters contained identifiiing information regarding the providers' uninsured
patients. In order to upload any patient roster to the UIP Portal, however, the
provider had to fi.rst make attestations to HRSA regarding these patients (the
"Patient Roster Attestations"). The Patient Roster Attestations consisted of
"boxes" that providers had to "check" in order to upload a patient roster.

16.True and correct "screenshots" of the Patient Roster Attestations used during
the lifetime of the Uninsured Program are attached as Exhibit A.
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17.As set forth in Exhibit A, the Patient Roster Attestations included a
representation from the provider that they had "checked for health care
coverage eligibility and confirmed that the patient is uninsured and does not
have employer-sponsored or individual coverage, Medicare or Medicaid and
that no other payer will reimburse for COVID-l9 testing or care for the
patient."

18. Further, in the Patient Roster Attestations, the providers had to attest that
they had read and agreed to the lJninsured Program's terms and conditions.
The Terms and Conditions (which were linked in the Patient Roster
Attestations and available on the Uninsured Program's website) specifically
prohibited providers from seeking reimbursement for COVID-19 testing that:
(1) had been provided to patients that had any health care coverage; or (2)
would be (or had been) reimbursed by another payer. See First Uninsured
Program Terms and Conditions, auailable at
https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/filesflrrsa/provider-relieflterms-conditions-
ffcra-relieffund.pdf (attached as Exhibit B) (hereinafter "First Terms and
Conditions"); Updated Uninsured Program Terms and Conditions, auailable at
https://www.hrsa.gov/sites/default/files/hrsa/provider-relieflterms-conditions-
uninsured-relieffund.pdf (attached as Exhibit C) (hereinafter "Updated Terms
and Conditions") (collectively, the "Terms and Conditions").

19.Specifically, until on or about May 31, 2021, the First Terms and Conditions
provided in relevant part that: "[the provider] ... certifies that to the best of its
knowledge, the patients identified on the claim form were FFCRA Uninsured
Individuals at the time the services were provided ." "FFCRA Uninsured
Individuals" were defined as individuals who, as of the date they received the
service for which the provider sought payment, were not enrolled in a private
health insurance plan or a federal health care program. See Exhibit B. In
addition, the First Terms and Conditions provided that the "[The provider]
certifies that it will not use the [Uninsured Program payment] to reimburse
expenses or losses that have been reimbursed from other sources or that other
sources are obligated to reimburse. If the [provider] subsequently receives
reimbursement for any items or services for which the [provider] requested
Payment from the [Uninsured Program], the [provider] will return to HHS that
portion of the Payment which duplicates payment or reimbursement from
another source." Id.

20.on or about May 31, 2021, HRSA updated the language of its Terms and
Conditions, but did not change any of the aforementioned requirements.l The

t In addition, HRSA updated the Patient Roster Attestations on June 18, 2021, and December
17, 2021, but did not modifu the attestations relating to checking for health care coverage
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Updated Terms and Conditions provided that: "The [Provider] . . . certifies that
to the best of its knowledge, the patients identified on the claim form were
IJninsured Individuals at the time the services were provided." "IJninsured
Individuals" were defined as "individuals who do not have any health care
coverage at the time the services were provided." See Exhibit C. Further, the
Updated Terms and Conditions' language regarding payments from other
sources remained the same as in the First Terms and Conditions.

2l.Through their agreement to the Terms and Conditions, providers also
acknowledged that their obligations were ongoing, as weII as to the materiality
of their compliance. See id. ("The Recipient acknowledges that each time the
Recipient submits such claims for reimbursement, each claim must be in full
compliance with these Terms and Conditions, and submission of those claims
confrrms the Recipient's ongoing compliance with these Terms and Conditions.
The Recipient acknowledges that the Recipient's fuII compliance with all
Terms and Conditions is material to the Secretary's decision to disburse funds
to the Recipient. Noncompliance with any Term or Condition is grounds for the
Secretary to recoup some or all of the payments made.")

22. Claims submissions to the Uninsured Program were made through the
Medicare Electronic Data Interchange ("MEDI"), fl system widely used by
health care providers.

23.The Uninsured Program generally reimbursed providers at rates published by
the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS"), which published
Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System ("HCPCS") codes that were
used in providers' electronic claims submissions to the Uninsured Program.
Through these HCPCS codes, the providers identified the specific services
rendered. The Uninsured Program reimbursed providers as much as $100 for
providing a COVID-19 test, and an additional $23.46 for the collection of a
specimen.

24. HRSA also provided ongoing guidance to providers. For example, HRSA
published "Frequently Asked Questions" ("FAQs") and corresponding answers
on the lJninsured Program's website. Those answers consistently stated that a
patient is considered uninsured only if the patient did not have health care
coverage at the time services were rendered. It also made clear that if a claim
was submitted to HRSA for a patient that was determined to be insured, the
provider should receive a notice that the claim was ineligible for
reimbursement:

elig,ibfity. See Exhibit A. Alt versions of the Patient Roster Attestations likewise still
required providers to agree to the Uninsured Program Terms and Conditions. See id.
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Who is considered to be an "uninsured indiuidual" for purposes of
prouiders requesting reimbursement for testing, treatment, or
uaccine admiristration ?

For claims for COVID-l9 testing and testing-related items and
services, treatment of positive cases of COVID-19, and vaccine
administration claims, a patient is considered uninsured if the
patient did not have any health care coverage at the time services
were rendered.

What if a prouider submitted a claim to the HRSA COWD-L7
Uninsured Program and the patient is actually underinsured?

If a claim was submitted to the HRSA COVID-19 Uninsured
Program for a patient who was actually insured, the provider
should receive a notice that the claim was not eligible for
reimbursement.

HRSA, FAQs for COVID-l9 Claims Reimbursement to Health Care Providers
and Facilities for Testing, Treatment and Vaccine Administration FAQs
(published June 2021), auailable at https://coviduninsuredclaim-
stage.linkhealth.com/frequently-asked-questions.html (attached as Exhibit D)
(hereinafter "FAQs").

25. Further, the Uninsured Program's website informed providers, that if they
make direct contact with the patients, the provider should make their own
"best efforts to confi.rm that the patient was uninsured." HRSA, Uninsured
Program Patient Roster Attestation Webpage, archived version available at
https://coviduninsuredclaim-stage.linkhealth.com/patient-details.html (Attached as
Exhibit E).

26.To facilitate HRSA's ability to determine whether a patient was indeed
uninsured, Uninsured Program guidance published by HRSA informed
providers that they should submit a patient's "SSN and state of residence" with
their claims or, "if not available," the patient's state identffication or driver's
Iicense. See FAQs. The guidance explained that this information was "needed
only for the purpose of verifying insurance status." Id. lt a provider could not
obtain that information, they were required "to attest that [they] attempted to
capture this information before submitting a claim." Id.

27.The Uninsured Program could only reimburse providers using the funds that
had been appropriated by Congress. on March 16, 2022, HRSA informed
providers that, on March 22, 2o22, ttre Uninsured Program would stop
accepting new claims for COVID-19 testing and treatment due to a lack of
sufficient appropriated funds.
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28.HRSA's payment decisions turned on, among other things, whether a provider
complied with its obligations to submit claims for reimbursement only when:
(1) no other payer would reimburse (or had reimbursed) the CO\IID-l9 testing;
and (2) the provider had confirmed that the patient was an uninsured
individual.

29.If HRSA had known that a provider had submitted claims for COVID-l9
testing where either another payer would reimburse (or had reimbursed) the
provider for the COVID-19 testing or the patient had any health care coverage
on the relevant date of service, HRSA would have not paid the claims.

HRSA Uninsured Program Fraud

30.As detailed below, there is probable cause to believe that Andor fraudulently
submitted claims to the HRSA lJninsured Program for patients Andor knew
were insured through a federal healthcare program or private insurance.

31.A review of federal healthcare program data revealed that between 2020 arrd
the present, Andor was paid tens of millions of dollars by federal healthcare
programs for laboratory services, including payments by Medicare Part B and
the HRSA Uninsured Program for COVID-19 testing and related services. In
particular, between January 1,2020, and September 13,2025, Medicare Part
B paid Andor more than $15 million, and for dates of service between July 16,

2020, and March 2L, 2022, the Uninsured Program paid Andor more than $10
million.

32.Investigators have conducted a preliminary analysis of claims submitted by
Andor to the Uninsured Program and Medicare and Medicaid. The
preliminary analysis identified numerous patients on whose behalf Andor
submitted a claim to Medicare or Medicaid just weeks before submitting a

claim for the same patient to the Uninsured Program, including the following
examples:

a. W.B. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient W.B. for services conducted on December 17, 2020, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-l9 testing
conducted through August 17, 2021. Andor submitted claims to the
Uninsured Program related to COVID-19 testing for patient W.B.
conducted on December 17, 2020, and continued submitting claims to
the Uninsured Program for COVID-l9 testing conducted through
September 3, 2021. The service dates for many of the COVID-19 tests
billed to Medicare and the Uninsured Program during that time period
are identical.
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b. B.C. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to CO\rID-19 testing
for patient B.C. for services conducted on January 5, 2027, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-19 testing
conducted through August 24, 2021. Andor submitted claims to the
IJninsured Program related to COVID-l9 testing for patient B.C.
conducted on January 5,2021, and continued submitting claims to the
Uninsured Program for COVID-19 testing conducted through
September 3, 2021. The service dates for many of the COVID-l9 tests
billed to Medicare and the Uninsured Program during that time period
are identical.

c. O.C. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient O.C. for services conducted on February 1, 2021, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-l9 testing
conducted through May 15, 2023. Andor submitted claims to the
Uninsured Program related to COVID-l9 testing for patient O.C.
conducted on March L, 2021, and continued submitting claims to the
IJninsured Program for COVID-l9 testing conducted through June 28,
2027.

d. M.E. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient M.E. for services conducted on December 7, 2020, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-19 testing
conducted through July 25, 2022. Andor submitted claims to the
IJninsured Program related to COVID-l9 testing for patient M.E.
conducted on September 20, 2027, and continued submitting claims to
the Uninsured Program for COVID-19 testing conducted through
January 27, 2022. Many of the claims submitted to the Uninsured
Program were for dates of service less than two weeks afber a date of
service for which Andor submitted a claim to Medicare for M.E.

e. J.G. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient J.G. for services conducted on May 5, 2021, and continued
submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-19 testing conducted through
September 23,202L Andor submitted claims to the Uninsured Program
related to COVID-19 testing for patient J.G. conducted on June 2,2021,
and continued submitting claims to the lJninsured Program for COVID-
19 testing conducted through June 16,2021.

f. B.H. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient B.H. for services conducted on December 7, 2020, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-l9 testing
conducted through July 25, 2022. Andor submitted claims to the
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Uninsured Program related to CO\IID-l9 testing for patient B.H.
conducted on August 9, 2021, and continued submitting claims to the
IJninsured Program for COVID-19 testing conducted through February
21,2022.

g. E.T. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COWD-19 testing
for patient E.T. for services conducted on Novembet 3, 2O20, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-l9 testing
conducted through January 18,202I. Andor submitted a claim to the
IJninsured Program related to CO\IID-l9 testing for patient E.T.
conducted on December 7, 2020.

h. R.Y. - Andor submitted claims to Medicare related to COVID-19 testing
for patient R.Y. for services conducted on December L4, 2020, and
continued submitting claims to Medicare for COVID-l9 testing
conducted through July 25, 2022. Andor submitted claims to the
IJninsured Program related to COVID-l9 testing for patient R.Y.
conducted on May 17, 2021, and continued submitting claims to the
Uninsured Program for COVID-19 testing conducted through August
30,2021. A few of the claims submitted to the Uninsured Program were
for dates of service less than two weeks afber a date of service for which
Andor submitted a claim to Medicare for R.Y.

33.A preliminary analysis of the full universe of claims submitted by Andor to the
Uninsured Program revealed that, notwithstanding HRSA instruction that
claimants should provide a Social Security or State ID number with all claims,
Andor did not submit a Social Security Number or State ID number for
approximately eighty-five percent (85%) of 132,L44 claims it submitted to the
Uninsured Program.

34.A preliminary analysis of the full universe of claims submitted by Andor to the
Uninsured Program revealed that the full name, date of birth, gender, and
state listed on more than 40,000 claims matched to a Medicare or Medicaid
beneficiary. The Uninsured Program paid Andor more than $5,000,000 for
CO\TD-19 testing related services for those claims. And more than 10,000
additional claims submitted by Andor to the Uninsured Program were for
patients that matched or potentially matched to Medicare or Medicaid
benefrciaries using other matching criteria. In total, the preliminary analysis
found that more than a third of claims submitted by Andor to the Uninsured
Program were for patients that matched or potentially matched to government
insurance programs (r,.e. Medicare or Medicaid).
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35.An analysis of records indicates that other claims submitted by Andor were for
patients with private insurance.

36.Internal Andor bilIing records obtained by investigators for 18 patients
confi.rmed that Andor billed to-and was paid by-the lJninsured Program for
COVID-19 testing conducted on dates of services that were just days after
dates of services for COVID-19 testing that Andor billed to-and was paid by-
Medicare, Medicaid, or a private insurer for the same patient. For those 18
patients alone, Andor billed the Uninsured Program more than $20,000 dollars
for COVID-19 testing services.

37.Andor's 2025 Limited Liability Company Annual Report submitted to the
North Carolina Secretary of State lists Syed Iqbal Haider and Gulamnabi
Vahora as "Managing Member[s]" of Andor, and Sarah Al-Baghdadi as

"Member" of Andor.

38.According to court records, Sarah Al-Baghdadi was married to Murad Ayyad
("Ayyad') from August 3, 2011, until a Judgment of Divorce was entered on
November 8,2024.

39.A confidential source ("CS-1"), who worked for Andor from early 2020 to early
2022, said that Andor performed COVID-19 tests for samples collected at drive-
thru testing sites. CS-1 further said Andor was busy during COVID-19 and
then its business slowed down.

40.A second confi.dential source ("CS-2") worked at Andor from early 2021through
late 2022. CS-2 said s/he understood Ayyad to be the owner of Andor, and that
A5,yad was responsible for Andor's day-to-day operations.

41.A third confidential source ("CS-3") said that Andor provided COVID-19
testing, both PCR and antigen, for patients housed in a senior living
community. CS-3 said that Andor also performed COVID-19 tests at medical
practices. CS-3 said that many of the CO\TD-19 tests used by Andor for
patients of those practices were expired.

42.A fourth confidential source ("CS-4") said that Ayyad lived in the Subject
Property through the fall of 2024.

43.In a 2025 annual report submitted to the North Carolina Secretary of State,
Ayyad is listed as the President and Registered Agent of Lab Services
Associates Inc. ("LSA"), a North Carolina corporation. LSA's principal office
address is listed as 4801 East Independence Boulevard, Suite 502, Charlotte,
NC 28212.
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Conducting Transactions in Criminally Derived Property

44. There is also probable cause to believe that in addition to the commission of
the fraud described above, Andor and others engaged in monetary transactions
in excess of $10,000, using funds derived from the Uninsured Program fraud,
a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957.

45.Investigators obtained bank records for Andor and LSA. Based on federal
health care program enrollment records and a review of those bank records,
the proceeds of the aforementioned HRSA Uninsured Program fraud \ryere
deposited into a bank account owned by Andor and controlled by Andor's
Managing Members. This account is identifred as BB&T Business Value 500
Checking account ending 0667 ("BB&T 0667").

46.Andor bank records for the above referenced account revealed that between
September 2020 and July 2023, Andor paid more than 915 million, in
aggregate, to bank accounts owned by LSA and controlled by Ayyad. These
accounts are identifi.ed as Wells Fargo Initiate Business Checking account
ending 5404 ("WF 5404") and JPMorgan Chase Bank Chase Platinum
Business Checking account ending 3269. Checks and wires paid by Andor to
LSA described the payments fls, among other descriptions, for
"manage/consultant," "mgmt. services," "lab services," "Management Services,"
"Lab Management Services," and "Sales Management Fees."

4T.Generally accepted tracing methods approved by the Fourth Circuit were
applied to the aforementioned bank accounts to maintain a clear distinction
between the HRSA Uninsured Program proceeds and non-HRSA Uninsured
Program proceeds. Well-established tracing methods were used to follow the
movement of HRSA Uninsurance Program proceeds through Andor's BB&T
0667 into LSA's WF 5404 and ultimately to fund the purchase of the Subject
Property.

48.Between September 14, 2020 and April 23, 202r, over 91.6 million of HRSA
Uninsured Program proceeds were deposited into Andor's BB&T 0667. During
this same period of time, more than 9500,000 was paid from Andor's BB&T
0667 to LSA s WF 5404, via seven transactions. These seven transactions
contained, in aggregate, over $350,000 of HRSA Uninsured Program proceeds,
and five of the transactions contained more than $10,000 in HRSA Uninsured
Program proceeds.

49. Real estate records establish that LSA purchased the Subject Property on May
28,202t, from Deutsche Bank National Trust Company as Trustee.

50.In connection with the closing, LSA wired a total of $828,478.77 from LSAs
WF 5404 to Brady and Kosofsky, the closing attorneys for the Subject Property,
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in two separate wires that each individually contained more than $10,000 of
HRSA lJninsured Program proceeds:

a. On May 4, 2021, LSA wired $15,000 from Wells Fargo account ending
5404 to Brady and Kosofsky PA for "earnest money 5200 Blue Stem Ct,
Raleigh, NC".

b. On May 27, 2021, LSA wired $813,478.71 from Wells Fargo account
ending 5404 to Brady and Kosofsky for "closing RE. 5200 BIue Stem,
Raleigh, NC 27606".

51.Bank records showed that, in October 2021, LSA issued a printed check for $1
million with a handwritten memo "real estate investment loan" to Parson
Investment Group, Inc. ("Parson"), another entity which investigators have
Iearned is associated with Ayyad. Like LSA, the principal offi.ce address for
Parson is 4801 East Independence Boulevard, Suite 502, Charlotte, NC 28212.
Bank records further show that LSA made a $200,000 capital contribution to
Parson in January 2023.

52.In May 2024, afber Andor learned that it was under investigation related to
claims it submitted to the Uninsured Program, LSA transferred the Subject
Property to Parson via non-warranty deed for no consideration.

53. The following chart demonstrates the chain of title for the Subject Property:

l-'l osrrerzoza ./\$6
n ostzatzozt n",t9' 6

5200 Blue Stem Court, Raleigh, NC

I
,larson lnvestment Group, lnc

Lab Services Associates, LLC

Deutshe Bank Nationat Trust Company
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Conclusion

54. Based on the foregoing, the Subject Property constitutes or is derived from
proceeds traceable to specified unlawful activity, specifically Title 18, United
States Code, Sections 1031 (major fraud against the United States), 1347
(health care fraud) and/or 1349 (conspiracy to commit health care fraud), or
were involved in transactions or attempted transactions in violation of Tit1e
18, United States Code, Section 1957 (collectively, the "Subject Offenses"), and
are therefore subject to forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code,
Sections 981(a)(1)(A) and (C).

Executed this 9th day of October, 2025.

fi
BENNETT STRICKLAND
Civil Healthcare Fraud Investigator

Declaration in Support of Forfeiture of 5200 Blue Stem Court - page 18
Case 5:25-cv-00642-D     Document 1-2     Filed 10/09/25     Page 13 of 58



�E�X�H�I�B�I�T� �AEXHIBIT A

Case 5:25-cv-00642-D     Document 1-2     Filed 10/09/25     Page 14 of 58



Patient Roster Attestation from Beginning of Uninsured Program to On Or About June 18.
2021

! I fm raaa at egrGG b Orc agplcaDle HRsiA COUO.TO t.[lhorcd Rog.am Tlnnr arrd Cdr.tBqin lor &ntb0 6IEIES&. I

.llc![lh.t I ama(flrorEcd baorec loirra E rBroobcharol$apru,ldcf lr{h$cT.r khrulca&oNurncr.ssoctlbd$fir0t

.n6tauon.

! t aUca fra f nan (,l.ct d tor tE m ca,t coyGragc cdgefiy eod oootlrEd U!.1 thc p.dcnt 13 uollBu.d, and doct nd lr.tra c,Ilfor€r-
tpoaraorld or lnfi,ttuc oot Grag!, lrlcdcafa or ir€dcald and lrtal m oorcr paycr u,fl rGlrsusa b. covlo.tg ca&E or carc tor $e
pe0cr{.

! l agcc hef t rfr acoefl &cdchcd Fogrm.driorrlanE [. e3 (btcflrficd snd/o.adfi$fiEt by ]haltr Resqrcca & Scnlcct
Affiitstr0oo(HRSA),aip.ymcnlhfriandu't0nolbehnoaDlltrapotc.t llwtx,rrrdatstindUrcrlfnDu4}rrmntB!iltFctto
.!,ifau.funffro br lha poeran.

l "aktt 
,t"dr" thd l,my bc at d to ruofifl b tha ra,l.tn prcc.scGsLuhncd by HRSA Hrdhg ltr cofir.cbr to &kfiro. stE{rc.

prynrcr{t w!ru madc ofiaqry. Ad([6o,rily, r+on irquc3t by HRSA o. lE cdrrraro., I tyll Plovl(b any am aI hbfirado.r rdata{t b oG
dbpocltbn s rrc d r|G fu|dr ,lcahcd rfidar trc HRs col/|trro unhfircd Prcoram ls ardrrg ad,br rcpodrg nrpo6ca.

C!ncgl

Patient Roster Attestation from On or About June 18.2021 to On or About December 17.
2021
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DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

Acceptance of Terms and Conditions

I hereby attest to the following Terms and Conditions on behalf of the provider with the Tax

Identification Number associated with this attestation ("Recipient"). I further attest that I am

authorized to make such attestation on behalf of the Recipient. The Terms and Conditions below
are not an exhaustive list and the Recipient agrees to comply with any other applicable statutes

and regulations.

The Recipient plans to submit claims for reimbursement for COVID-19 Testing and/or Testing-

Related ltems and Services provided to FFCRA Uninsured Individuals (as those terms are further
defined below). The Recipient acknowledges that each time the Recipient submits such claims

for reimbursement, each claim must be in full compliance with these Terms and Conditions, and

submission of those claims confirms the Recipient's ongoing compliance with these Terms and

Conditions.

These Terms and Conditions apply directly to the Recipient. In general, the requirements that

apply to the Recipient also apply to subrecipients and contractors, unless an exception is

specified.

EFCRA Relieffund Payment Terms and Conditions;

The "Payment" means the funds received from the Public Health and Social Services
Emergency Fund, as appropriated in Public Law I l6-127 ("FFCRA Relief Fund") to
provide "COVID-19 Testing" and "Testing-Related Items and Services" to "FFCRA
Uninsured Individuals." as those terms are further defined below. The "Recipient" means

the healthcare provider, whether an individual or an entity, receiving the Payment.

o COVID-19 Testing means:

r An in vitro diagnostic test defined in section 809.3 of title 2l, Code of
Federal Regulations (or successor regulations) for the detection of SARS-
CoV-2 or the diagnosis of the virus that causes COVID-I9, and the

*'i''T;;;TH::::' 
i:::;",ized under section s, 0(k), s, 3. s, s,

or 564 of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C.

360(k), 360c, 360e, 360bbb-3);

a

The Recipient acknowledges that the Recipient's full compliance with all Terms and Conditions
is materialto the Secretary's decision to disburse funds to the Recipient. Non-compliance with
any Term or Condition is grounds for the Secretary to recoup some or all of the payments made.

Case 5:25-cv-00642-D     Document 1-2     Filed 10/09/25     Page 18 of 58



,,".# DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

a

The developer has requested, or intends to request, emergency use
authorization under section 564 of the Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act (21 U.S.C. 360bbb-3), unless and until the
emergency use authorization request under such section 564 has
been denied or the developer of such test does not submit a request
under such section within a reasonable timeframe;

Is developed in and authorized by a State that has notified the
Secretary of Health and Human Services of its intention to review
tests intended to diagnose COVID-19; or

or"*ing_ne;*".T::;:H::H::Tl;::3T:I[.:ffiT.-J:T'
individual during health care provider office visits (including in-person visits and
telehealth visits), urgent care center visits, and emergency room visits that result
in an order for or administration of COVID-19 Testing but only to the extent such
items and services relate to the furnishing or administration of such product or to
the evaluation of such individual for purposes of determining the need of such
individual for such product.

o FFCRA Uninsured Individuals means individuals who, as of the date of service
for which Recipient seeks Payment, are not enrolled in-

. A Federalhealth care program (as defined under section I l28B(f) of the
Social Security Act (42 U.S.C. 1320a-7b(f)), including an individual who
is eligible for medical assistance only because of subsection
(a)(1O)(A)(iiXXXIID of Section 1902 of the Social Security Act; or

. A group health plan or health insurance coverage offered by a health
insurance issuer in the group or individual market (as such terms are
defined in section 2791 of the Public Health Service Act(42 U.S.C.
300gg-91)), or a health plan offered under chapter 89 of title 5, United
States Code.

The Recipient certifies that it is not currently terminated from participation in Medicare
or precluded from receiving payment through Medicare Advantage or Part D; is not
currently excluded from pamicipation in Medicare, Medicaid, and other Federal health
care programs; and does not currently have Medicare billing privileges revoked.

The Recipient certifies that it, or its agents, provided the COVID-19 Testing and/or
Testing-Related ltems and Services on the Recipient's claim form to the FFCRA
Uninsured Individuals identified on the claim form; that the dates of service occurred on

February 4,2020, or later; and that all items and services for which Payment is sought
were medically necessary. The Recipient also certifies that to the best of its knowledge,
the patients identified on the claim form were FFCRA Uninsured Individuals at the time
the services were provided.

a
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,.*# DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES

a

a

a

a

a

The Recipient certifies that it will not use the Payment to reimburse expenses or losses
that have been reimbursed from other sources or that other sources are obligated to
reimburse. If the Recipient subsequently receives reimbursement for any items or
services for which the Recipient requested Payment from the FFCRA Relief Fund, the
Recipient will retum to HHS that portion of the Payment which duplicates payment or
reimbursement from another source. The Recipient will not include costs for which
Payment was received in cost reports or otherwise seek uncompensated care
reimbursement through federal or state programs for items or services for which Payment
was received.

The Recipient shall submit reports as the Secretary determines are needed to ensure
compliance with conditions that are imposed on this Payment, including all relevant
claims data, and such reports shall be in such form, with such content, as specified by the
Secretary in future program instructions directed to all Recipients. The Recipient
acknowledges and agrees that the Secretary will share relevant claims data with
components of the Department of Health and Human Services.

The Recipient consents to the Department of Health and Human Services publicly
disclosing the Payment that Recipient may receive from the FFCRA Relief Fund.

The Recipient certifies that all information it provides as part of its application for the
Payment, as well as all information and reports relating to the Payment that it provides in
the future at the request ofthe Secretary or Inspector General, are true, accurate and
complete, to the best of its knowledge. The Recipient acknowledges that any deliberate
omission, misrepresentation, or falsification of any information contained in a request for
reimbursement or future report may be punishable by criminal, civil, or administrative
penalties, including but not limited to revocation of Medicare billing privileges, exclusion
from federal health care programs, and./or the imposition of fines, civil damages, and/or
imprisonment.

Not later than 10 days after the end of each calendar quarter, any Recipient that is an
entity receiving more than $150,000 total in funds under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and
Economic Security Act (P.L. I 1 6- 136), the Coronavirus Preparedness and Response
Supplemental Appropriations Act (P.L. I l6-123), the Families First Coronavirus
Response Act (P.L. 116-127), or any other Act primarily making appropriations for the
coronavirus response and related activities, shall submit to the Secretary and the
Pandemic Response Accountability Committee a report. This report shall contain: the
total amount of funds received from HHS under the foregoing enumerated Acts; the
amount of funds received that were expended or obligated for each project or activity; a
detailed list of all projects or activities for which the funds were expended or obligated,
including: the name and description of the project or activity, and the estimated number
ofjobs created or retained by the project or activity, where applicable; and detailed
information on any level of subcontracts or subgrants awarded by the Recipient or its
subcontractors or subgrantees, to include the data elements required to comply with the
Federal Funding Accountability and Transparency Act of 2006 allowing aggregate
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a

a

a

a

a

reporting on awards below $50,000 or to individuals, as prescribed by the Director of the
Office of Management and Budget.

The Recipient shall maintain appropriate records and documentation including, as

applicable, documentation described in 45 CFR $ 75302 - Financial management and 45
CFR $ 7 5 .361 through 7 5 .365 - Record Retention and Access, and other information
required by future program instructions to substantiate Payments under this award. The
Recipient shall promptly submit copies of such records and documentation upon the
request of the Secretary, and Recipient agrees to fully cooperate in all audits the
Secretary, Inspector General, or Pandemic Response Accountability Committee conducts
to ensure compliance with these Terms and Conditions.

The Recipient agrees that all claims it submits will be full and complete (i.e., no interim
bills or corrected claims). The Recipient acknowledges that all payments are final and
there will be no adjustments.

The Secretary will reimburse the Recipient generally at 100 percent of Medicare rates
(including any amounts that would have been due to the provider as patient cost sharing)
for the COVID-19 Testing and/or Testing-Related Items and Services that Respondent
provided to FFCRA Uninsured Individuals for which the Recipient submits claims to the
FFCRA Relief Fund. If there is no Medicare standard rate, a calculated average rate will
be used. Exclusions from coverage and alternatives to where Medicare rates do not
apply are outlined in the program details.

The Recipient certifies that it will not engage in "balance billing" or charge any type of
cost sharing for any COVID-19 Testing and/or Testing-Related Items and Services
provided to FFCRA Uninsured lndividuals for which the Recipient receives a Payment
from the FFCRA Relief Fund. The Recipient shall consider Payment received from the
FFCRA Relief Fund to be payment in full for such care or treatment.

If the Recipient, prior to signing these Terms and Conditions, charged any FFCRA
Uninsured Individuals a fee for COVID-19 Testing and/or Testing-Related Items and

Services for which the Recipient subsequently received a Payment from the FFCRA
Relief Fund, the Recipient will communicate to the FFCRA Uninsured Individuals that
they do not owe Recipient any money for that care or treatment. If an FFCRA Uninsured
Individual paid the Recipient for any portion of such care or treatment, the Recipient will
timely return the payment to the FFCRA Uninsured Individual.

The following statutory provisions also apply:

General Provisions in FY 2020 Consolidated Appropriation

SEC. 202. Executive Pay. None of the funds appropriated in this title shall be used to pay the

salary of an individual, through a grant or other extramural mechanism, at a rate in excess of

Executive Level II;
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